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Defendants.
/

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At al1 times material to this lndictment'.

The M edicare Protram

The Medicare Progrnm (ElMedicare'') was a federally funded progrnm that provided

free or below-cost health caze benefts to certain individuals, primarily the elderly, blind, and

disabled. The benefits available tmder M edicare were governed by federal statmes arld regulations.

The United States Department of Health and Human Services (11HHS''), through its agency, the
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Centers for Medicaze and Medicaid Selwices (GtCM S''), oversaw and administered Medicare.

lndividuals who received benefits tmder M edicare were commonly referred to as M edicare

Glbeneficiaries.''

M edicare was subdivided into multiple program tGparts.'' M edicare PM  A covered

health services provided by hospitals, sldlled nursing facilities, hospices, and home health

égencies. M edicare PM  B covered physician services and outpatient care, including an

individual's access to dtlrable medical equipment (1:DME''), such as orthotic devices and

wheelchairs. M edicare PM  C, also known as the GGsledicare Advantage'' Progrnm, provided

M edicére beneficiaries with the option to receive their M edicare benefits through pdvate managed

health care plans, including health maintenance orgnnizations and prefen'ed provider

orgnnizations.

3. Medicare and Medicare Advantage were çGhealth care benefit progrnmgsqy'' as

defined by Title 18, Urlited States Code, Section 24(b), anb çTederal health care programlsly'' as

defmed by Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(9.

Part C - M edicare Advantaze

M edicare Advantage plans provided beneficiades with a11 of the snme services

provided by an original fee-for-serdce M edicare plan, in addition to mandatory supplemental

benefts and optional supplemental bpnefits.

5. To receive M edicare Advantage benefits, a beneficiary waà required to enroll in a

m anaged care plan operated by a private com pany approved by M edicare. Those companies were

often refen'ed to as M edicare Advantage plan Gtsponsors.'' A beneficiary's enrollm ent in a

M edicare Advantage plan was voltmtary.
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6. Rather than reimbursing based on the extent of the selwices provided, as CM S did

for providers enrolled in original fee-for-service M edicare, CM S made fixed, monthly payments

to a plan sponsor for each beneficiary enrolled in one of the sponsor's plans, regardless of the

services rendered to the beneficiary that month or the cost of cqvering the benesciary's health

benefits that month. To receive payment, providers submitted or caused the submission of claims

to private health inslzrance companies electronically via interstate wires, either directly or through

a billing company. The private health insurance compani, es then reimbursed the provider based

on the services that were purportedly provided.

Benefciaries chose to enroll in a managed care plan administered by private health

instlrance compnnies, health maintenance orgnnizations, or preferred provider organizations. A

nllmber of Jntities were contracted by CM S to provide managed care to M edicare benefciaries

through various approved plalp. Such plans covered DM E and related health care benefits, items,

and services. Among its responsibilities, these Medicare Advantage plans received, adjudica' ted,

and paid the claims of authodzed prokiders seeking reimbtlrsements for the cost of DM E and

related health care benests, items, or services supplied to beneficiaries.

Durable M edical Equipm ent

Orthotic devices were a type of DM E that included rigid and sezni-rigid devices,

such as knee braces, back braces, shoulder braces, ankle braces, and m'ist braces (collectively,

Gûbraces'')

9. DM E suppliers, physicians, and other health care providers that provided services

to beneficiades were referred to as M edicare GGproviders.'' To participate in M edicare, providers

were required to submit art application, CM S Form 8555, which contained a certification that

stated:
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a

' 

'

1 agree to abide by the M edicare laws, regulations and program instnzctions that . 

'

apply to m e or to the orgnnization listed in Section IB of this application. The
M edicare laws, regulations, and progrnm instnzctions are available tllrough the fee-
for-service contractor. I tm derstand that paym ent of a claim by M edicare is
conditioned upon the claim  and the tmderlying transaction complying wi'th such

laws, regulations and program instnlctionsl,j including, but not 'limited to, the
Federal Anti-loickback Statme, 42 U.S.C. section 1320a-7b('b)(.)

I will not knowingly present or cause to be presented a false or fraudulent clahn for
payment by M edicare, and will not submit claims with deliberate ignorance or
recldess disregard of their trtzth or falsity.

10. CM S Form 8555 also required applicants to disclose to M edicare any individual or

orgnnization with an ownersllip interest, partnership interest, or managing control of a DME

supplier. This included: (i) a11 individuals and organizations with five percent or more of an

ownership stake, either direct or indirect, in the DME supplier; (ii) a1l individuals or orgnnizations

with a partnership interest in the DM E supplier, regardless of the partner's percentage of ,

ownership; (iii) al1 orgnnizations with çlmanaging control'' of the DME supplier; and (iv) al1

Gçmanaging employees.''

11. CM S Fonn 8555 defmed an organization with tGmanaging conkol'' of a DME

supplier as Gilalny orgnnization that exercises operational or managerial control'' over the DME

stpplier, or ttcohducts the day-to-day operations'' of the DME supplie'r. CM S Form 8555 defined

Gçmanaging employee'' as 1Ga general manager, business manager, administrator, director, or other

individual who exercises operational or managerial control over, or who directly or indirectly

conducts the day-to-day operations'' of the DM E supplier, Gleither tmder contract or through some

other arrangem ent, whether or not the individual is a W -2 employee'' of the DM E supplier.

12. CM S Form 8555 also required the disclostlre of SW dverse Legal Actions'' against

individuals or orgnnizations with an ownership interest, partnership interest, or managing control

of a DM E supplier. CM S Form 8555 defined GW dverse Legal Actions'' as, am ong other things,
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any federal or state felony conviction within the previous ten years, and any felony ormisdemeanor

conviction, tmder federal or state law, relating to the tmlawf'ul m anufacture, disttibution,

prescription, or dispensing of a controlled substance.

If M edicare approved a provider's application, M edicare assigned the provider a

M edicare tGprovider ntlmber.'' A health care provider with a M edicare provider nllmber could file

claims with M edicare to obtain reimbursement for services rendered to beneficiades.

14. Enrolled M edicare providers agreed to abide by the policies, procedtlres, nzles, and

regulations governing reimbursement. To receive M edicare funds, enrolled providers were

required to abide by the Federal Anti-luckback Statme and other laws and regulations. Providers

were given access to M edicare manuals and services bulletins descdbing billing procedures, rules,

and regulations.

15. M edicare reimbmsed DME suppliers and other health care providers for items and

services rendered to beneficiaries. To receive payment âom M edicare, providers submitted or

caused the submission of claim s to M edicare electronically via interstate wires, either directly or

tllrough a billing company.

A M edicare claim for DM E reimbtlrsement was required to set forth, among other

things, the beneficimy's nnme and llnique M edicare identiûcation nllmber, the DME provided to

the beneficiary, the date the DM E was provided, the cost of the DM E, and the nnme and lmique

physician identification nllmber of the physician who prescdbed or ordered the equipment.

17. A claim  for DM E submitted to M edicare qualified for reimbtzrsem ent only if it was

medically necessary for the treatment of the benefkiary's illness or injury and préscribed by a

licensed m edical professional.
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Telem edicine

18. Telemedicine provided a means of connecting patients to doctors by using

telecommllnications technology, such as the internet or telephone, to interacl with a patient.

Telemedicine compnnies provided telemçdicine services, or te1ehea1th services, to

individuals by hiring doctors and other health care providers. Telemedicine compnnies typically

paid doctors a fee to conduct consultations with patients. In order to generate revenue,

telemedicine companies typically either billed instlrance or received payment âom patients who

utilized the services of the telemediciùe company.

20. M edicare PM  B coyered expenses for specific te1ehea1th services if certain

requirements were met. These requirements included that (a) the benefkiary was located in arural

or health professional shodage area; (b) services were delivered via an interactive audio and video

telecommunications system; and (c) the beneficiary was in a practitioner's office or a specified

medical facility - not at a beneficiary's home s during the te1ehea1th service with a remote

practitioner.

Economic Iniurv Disaster Relief Proaram

The Sm all Business Adm inistration

The United States Small Business Administration (tGSBA'') was an exectttive-

branch agency of the United States government that provided support to entreprenetlrs and small

businesses. The mission of the SBA was to maintain and strengthen the nation's economy by

enabling the establishm ent and viability of sm all businesses and by assisting in the economic

recovery of com mllnities after disasters.

As paz't of this effort, the SBA facilitated loans through bnnks, credit unions, and

otier lenders. The federal government backed these loans.
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The Economic lnjury Disaster Loan Program

23. The Economic Injuty Disaster Loan (ç%IDL'') program was an SBA program that

provided low-interest financing to small businesses, renters, and homeowners in regions affected

by declared disasters.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (GtCARES'') Act was a federal

1aw enacted in or arotmd M arch 2020 and designed to provide emergency financial assistance to

the millions of Americans who were suffering the economic effects caused by the COVID-19

pandemic. One source of relief provided by the CARES Act was the authorization for the SBA to

provide EIDLS of up to $2 million to eligible small businesses experiencing substantial fmancial

disnzption due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the CARES Act authorized the SBA to

issue advances of up to $10,000 to small businesses within three days of applying for an EIDL.

The nmotmt of the advance was determined by the number of employees the applicant certified

having. The advances did not have to be repaid.

In order to obtain an EIDL and advance, a qualifying business was required to.

submit an application to the SBA and provide information about its operations, such as the nllmber

of employees, gross revenues for the lz-month period preceding the disaster, and cost of goods

jold in the lz-month period preceding the disaster. In the case of EIDLS for COVID-19 relief, the

lz-month period was that preceding January 31, 2020. The applicant was further required to

Itreview and check a11 of the following'' statements, whic,h included a statemenfthat the çW pplicant

is not engaged in any illegal activity (as defmed by Federal guidelinesl.'' If the applicant was

Gitmable to check a1l of the'' certifications, the IWpplicant (was) not an Eligible Entity.'' The

applicant was further required to certify that a11 of the information in the application was tnle and

correct to the best of the applicant's knowledge.
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26. EIDL applications were submitted directly to the SBA and processed by the agency

with support from a government contractor, Rapid Finance. The nmotmt of the loan, if the

application was approved, was determined based, in part, on the information provided by the

application about employment, revenue, and cost of goods, as described above. Any funds issued

mzder an EIDL or advance were issued directly by the SBA. EIDL funds could be used for payroll

expenses, sick leave, production costs, alzd business obligations, such as debts, rent, and mortgage

Paym ents.

The Defendants and Related Entities and Individuals

27. Equilibritzm Medical Supply Inc. (çiEquilibrillm'') was a company incorporated

tmder the laws of Florida, with its principal place of business in Broward Cotmty, Florida, that

maintained bnnk accotmts at City National Bank ending in 5599 (IçEquilibrium Accotmt 1'') and

tiE uilibriplm Accotmt 25,).7887 ( q Equilibrium was a DME supplier that purportedly provided

braces to patients, including M edicare atld M edicare Advantage plan beneficiaries.

28. Silent Hill Bracing and Orthopedic Supplies, LLC (Glsilent Hi11'') was a limited

liability company formed tmder the laws of Florida, w1111 its principal place of business i.n M inmi-

Dade Cotmty, Florida, that maintained bnnk açcounts at City National Bnnk ending in 5586

(çlsilent Hill Acco'unt 1') and 2183 (ççsilent Hill Accolmt 21'). Silent Hill was .y DME supplier that

puzportedly provided braces to patients, including M edicare and M edicare Advantage plan

beneficiaries.

29. West Bay Medical Supply, Inc. (GGMrest Bay'') was a company incoporated tmder

the laws of Florida, with its principalplace of business in Pinellas Cotmty, Flodda, that maintained

an accotmt at JP M organ Chase ending in 5660 (the çlW est Bay Accounf'). W est Bay was a DME
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supplier that purportedly provided braces to patients, including M edicare and M edicare Advantage

plan beneficiaries.

30. Active Assist DME, lnc. (çWctive Assisf') was a company incoporated under the

laws of Florida, with its principal place of business in Pinellas County, Florida, that maintained a

bnnk accotmt at .TP Morgan Chase ending in 5737 (the EW ctive Assist Accotmf). Active Assist

was a DME supplier that purportedly provideb braces to pétients, including Medicare and

' M edicare Advantage plan benesciaries.

31. SYL Solution Marketing, lnc. (GISYL Marketinf') was a company incorporated

under the laws of W est Virginia. SYL Marketing was a purported marketing company.

32. Leadcreations.com, LLC (Gtead Creations'') was a limited liability company

formed tmder the laws of Florida, wiih its plincipal place of business in Broward Cotmty, Flolida,

that maintained an account at .1P Morgan Chase ending in 7755 (the Gtead Creations Accotmf').

33. Telemedicine Company 1 was a limited liability company formed tmder the laws

of Delaware that purported to provide telemedicine services to patients, including M edicare and

M edicare Advantage plan beneficiaries.

34. Defendant JEREM Y W AXM AN was a resident of M iami-Dade Cotmty, Florida,

and an owner and manager of Equilibrillm, Silent Hill, W est Bay, atld Active Assist.

Defendant DEAN ZUSM ER w as a resident of M iami-Dade Cotmty, Florida, and

an owner and m anager of Active Assist.

36. Defendmlt LAW RENCE AS,EXANDER was a resident of M iam i-Dade County,

Flodda, and ml owner of Silent Hill.

Defendant RONALD DAW DOW C was a resident of Broward Cotmty, Flodda,

and Canada, and the owner of Lead Creations.
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38. Defendant IJM UT VARDAR was a resident of Ttzrkey, and a managing partner

and registered agent of Lead Creations.

39. Individual 1 was an owner and m anager of W est Bay.

40. Balance Advisors Inc. (t%alarlce Advisors'') was a company incorporated under the

laws of Florida, with its plincipal place of business in Broward County, Florida, that maintained a

bnnk account ending in 1899 atCity National Bnnk (the tGlBalance Advisors Accolmf').

W  was an owner of Balance Advisors.

COIJNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it H ealth Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1349)

Paragraphs 1 through 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of1.

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though f'ully set forth herein.

From in or around April 2014, and continuing through in or arotmd April 2019, in

M inmi-Dade and Broward Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendants,

JEREM Y w AXM AN,
DEAN ztTsM E ,R

RoxAt,o DAvm ovlc, and
UM I;T vu ou ,

did knowingly mid willftllly, that is, with the intent tofurther the objects of the conspiracy,

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree w1111 each other, Individual 1, and others lcnown and

llnknom 'l to the Grahd Jury, to commit offenses against the Urlited States, that is:

a. to knowingly and willfully execute a schem e and artifice to degaud a health

care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section

2409, that is, Medicare and Medicaze Advantage, and to obtain, by means of matedally false and

âaudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by, atld under the
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custody and control of, said health care benefit programs, in connection with the delivery of and

payment for health care benefits, items, and services, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1347., and

to knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a

scheme and artifice to defraud, and for obtaining money and property by means of matedally false

and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prpnzises, knowing the pretenses, representations,

and promises were false and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing the schemç

and artifice, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire commtmication

in interstate and foreign commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sotmds, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sedion 1343.

Purpose of the Conspiracv

3. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants atld their co-conspirators to

llnlawfully emich themselves by, among other things: (a) offerinj, paying, soliciting, and

receiving kickbacks and bribes in exchange for the referral of beneficiaries and doctors' orders for

braces and other documentation necessaty to submit claims to M edicare and M edicare Advantage

(collectively, Gçdoctors' orders'') through Equilibrium, Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist; (b)

paying and causing the payment of ldckbacks and bribes to telemedicinç companies in exchange

for ordering and arranging for the ordering of braces for beneficiaries, without regard to the

medical necessity of the prescribed braces or whether the braces were eligible for M edicare and

Medicare Advantage reimbtlrsement; (c) submitting and causing the submission, via interstate wire

commllnication, of false and fraudulent claim s to M edicare and M edicare Advantage through

Equilibrium, Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist for braces that were medically lmnecessary,

ineligible for M edicare and M edicm'e Advantage reimbursement, and not provided as represented;
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(d) concealing and causing the concealment of false and fraudulent claims; and (e) diverting fraud

proceeds for their personal use and beneft, the use and benefit of others, and to further the fraud.

M anner and M eans of the Conspiracy

The mnnner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to

accomplish the objects and purpose of the conspiracy included, nmong other things:

JEREM Y W AXM AN falsely certified to M edicare that he, as well as Equilibrillm,

would comply with a11 M edicare rules and regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-

Kickback Stamte, the requirement not to knowingly present or cause to be presented a false and

fraudulent claim for payment by M edicare, and the requirement not to submit claims with

deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of their truth or falsity.

ln order to avoid sclaltiny and ensure that he could constantly bill M edicare and

Medicare Advantage, even if Equilibrillm was audited or otherwise subject to regulatory scrutiny,

JEREM Y W AXM AN acquired beneficial ownership interests in other DM E suppliers, including

Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist.

6. JEREM Y W  N and other co-conspirators recnzited and paid individuals,

including LAW RENCE AI,EXANDER, DEAN ZUSM ER, and Individual 1, to establish the

DME suppliers in th eir own or fnmily members' names and to serve as nominee owpers of DME

suppliers, includhg Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist, in order to conceal W AXM AN'S

ownership role in the companies.

JEREM Y W AXM AN and LAW RENCE ALEXANDER caused CM S Form

8555 to be submitted to M edicare on behzf of Silent Hill, falsely representing to M edicare that

LAW RENCE AT,EXANDER'S relative, Nominee Owner 1, was the sole owner and m anaging

employee of Silent Hill. In reality, W AXM AN and M UEXANDER m aintained an ownership and
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management interest in Silent Hill, which they concealed from M edicare. The M edicare

enrollm ent form  which W AXM AN and ALEXANDER caused to be subm itted also falsely

certified that Nominee Owner 1, as well as Silent Hill, would comply with a11 M edicare nlles and

regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-u ckback Statute, the requirement not to

knowingly present or cause to be presented a false and fraudulent claim for payment by M edicaze,

and the requirement not to submit claims with deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of their

tnzth or falsity.

8. . Individual 1, at JEREM Y W AxM AN's direction, submitted CM S Fonn 8555 to

M edicare on behalf of W est Bay, in which Individual 1 falsely represented to M edicaze tha' t

Individual 1 was the sole owner and managing employee of W est Bay. In reality, W AXM AN

maintained an ownership and management interest in W est Bay, which was concezed from

M edicare. The M edicare form which W AXM AN caused to be subrnitted also falsely certified to

M edicare that Individual 1, as well as W est Bay, would comply with a11 M edicaze nzles and

regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-M ckback Statute, the requirement not to

knowingly present or cause to be jresented a false and âaudulent claim for payment by Medicare,

and the requirement not to submit claims w1111 deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of their

trutll or falsity.

DEAN ZUSMER submitted CMS f'orm 8555 to Medicare on behalf of Active

Assist, in which ZUSM ER falsely represented to M edicare that ZUSM ER was the sole owner

and m anaging employee of Active Assist. In reality, JEREM EY W AXM AN m aintained an

ownersllip and management interest in Active Assist, wllich was concraled from M edicare. The

M edicare form  also falsely certified to M edicare that ZUSM ER, as well as Active Assist, would

comply with a11 M edicare rules and regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-
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M ckback Statute, the requirement not to knowingly present or cause to be presented a false and

fraudulent claim for payment by M edicare, and the requirement not to submit claims with

deliberate ignorance or recldess disregard of their truth or falsity.

10. JEREM Y W AXM AN, DEAN ZUSM ER, Individual 1, and other co-conspirators

paid and caused to be paid kickbacks and bribesto patient recruiters, including RONAT,D

DAW DOW C and UM UT VARDAR, through Lead Creations, as well as SYL M arketing and

others, in exchange for refening beneficiaries and doctors' orders for braces to Equilibrillm, Silent

Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist.

RONALD DAW DOW C, UM UT VARDAR, and other co-conspirators paid

kickbacks and bzibes in exchange for the referral of benehciaries and doctors' orders for braces.

DAW DOVIC, VARDAR, and other co-conspirators then negotiated kickback anu gements with

DM E suppliers, including, through JEREM Y W AXM AN, Equilibrium, Silent Hill, W est Bay,

and Active Assist, to sell the benefciaries and doctors' orders to the DM E suppliers.

12. JEREM Y W  , DEAN ZUSM ER, RONAT,D DAW DOW C, UM UT

VARDAR, lndividual 1, and other co-conspirators offered and paid, and caused to be paid,

ldckbacks and bdbes to telemedicine compnnies, including Telemedicine Company 1, in exchange

for doctors' orders for braces that were not medically necessary and not eligible for M edicare and

M edicare Advantage reimbursement. The orders were m itten by doctors contracted with the

telemedicine companies, even though those doctors had no prior relationship with the

beneficiades, were not treating the beneficiaries, and did not conduct a proper telemedicine visit.

13. JEREM Y W AXM AN, DEAN ZUSM ER, RON AI,D DAW DOVIC, UM UT

VARDAR, Individual 1, and other co-conspirators disguised the nattzre and sotlrce of the

kickbacks and bribes by designating payments as Gtmazketing'' or lGbusiness process outsotlrcing''
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serdces, entering into shnm contracts, and generating and causing the generation of âaudulent

invoices.

14. JEREM Y W AXM AN , DEAN ZUSM ER, RONALD DAW DOW C, UM UT

VARDAR, Individual 1, and other co-conspirators provided, and caused the provision of, DM E

to beneficiaries that was medically Ilnnecessary, ineligible for reimbuzsement, did not fit, and that

the beneficiaries did not request.

15. To conceal the fraud scheme, JEREM Y W AXM AN directed co-conspirators,

including RONAI,D DAW DOW C, UM UT VARDAR, and Individual 1 to falsify paperwork

associated with beneficiary referrals, including doctors' orders, proof of delivery forms, and

shipping forms. W AXM AN and Individual 1 disguised this process by refening to it in coded

tenns. For example, W AXM AN and Individual 1 called the falsification of papem ork lGal'ts and

crafts,'' and W  AN instnzcted Individual 1 to falsify paperwork for a beneficiary by stating

that the papem ork ltneeds borgata,'' with the term Gtborgata'' being a code word indicating that the

paperwork needed to be falsified.

16. In total, from in or arotmd April 2014 to in or arotmd Apdl 2019, JEREM Y

W AXM AN, DEAN ZUSM ER, RONM ZD DAVIDOW C, UM UT VARDAR, Individual 1, and

other co-conspirators caused Equilibrblm, Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist to submit false

and fraudulent claims to M edicare and M edicare Advantage, via interstate wire communication,

in the approximate amotmt of at least $31,435,359, of which approximately $15,769,334 was paid.

JEREM Y W AXM AN, DEAN ZUSM ER, RONALD DAW DOW C, UM UT

VARDAR, Individual 1, and other co-conspirators used the fraud proceeds received from

M edicare and M edicare Advantage to benefit themselves and others, and to further the âaud.

All in violation of Title 18, Urlited States Code, Section 1349.
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COUNTS 2-5
H eaIth Care Fraud
(18 U.S.C. j 1341

Paragraphs 1 through 20 and 27 tllrough 40 of the General Allegations section of

this Indictment are re-alleged arld incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or around April 2014, and continuing through in or around April 2019, in

M inmi-Dade and Broward Cotmties, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewherej the

defendants,

JEREM Y W AXM AN ,
DEAN zusm  ,R

RONALD oAvfoovlc, and

UMVT VARDAR,

in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items, and services, did

knowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute, a scheme and artitice to defraud a health

care benefit progrnm affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section

24(b), that is, Medicare and Medicare Advantage, and to obtain by means of materially false and

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and tmder the

custody and control of, said healthcare benetk programs.

Purpose of the Schem e and Artifice

3. lt was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their accomplices

to llnlawftzlly emich themselves by, nmong other things: (a) offering, paying, soliciting, and

receiving kickbacks and bdbes in exchange for the referral of beneficiaries and doctors' orders for

braces to Equilibrilim, Silent Hill,W est Bay, and Active Assist',(b) paying and causing the

paym ent of kickbacks and bribes to telem edicine companies in exchange for ordering and

arranging for the ordering of braces for beneficiaries, without regard to the m edical necessity of

the prescribed braces oz whether the braces were eligible for M edicare and M edicare Advantage
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reimbtlrsement; (c) submitting and causing the submission, via interstate wire commtmication, of

false and fraudulent claims to M edicare and M edicm'e Advantage through Equilibrimn, Silent Hill,

W est Bay, and Active Assist for braces that were medically llnnecessary, ineligible for M edicaze

and Medicare Advantage reimbursement, and not provided as represented; (d) concealing and

causing the concealment of false and fraudulent claims; and (e) diverting fraud proceeds for their

personal use and benefit, the use and benefit of others, and to further the fraud.

The Schem e and Artifice

4. The M nnner and M eans section of Count 1 of this lndictment is re-alleged and

incoporated by reference as thougé fully set forth herein as a description of the scheme and

artifice.

A cts in Execution or Attem pted Execution
of the Schem e and A rtifice

5. On or about the dates set forth aC to each count below, in M inmi-Dade and Broward

Counties, in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants,

JEltEm  w AxM u ,
DEAX ztlsm  ,R

RONALD oAvm ou c, and
IJM UT vm u ,

did lcnowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute, the above-described scheme and

artitk e to defraud a health care benefit program in that the defendants so identified submitted and

caused the submission of false and fraudulent claims, seeking the identified dollar amotmts, and

representing that such benefits, item s, and services were m edically necessary, eligible for M edicare

reimbursem ent, and provided to beneficiades as claim ed:
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TotalA
pprox. px s ; xpprox.Defendantts) BillingCount Beneficiary Date of

Charged Entity Claim No. Am ountS
ervice Billed

Ankle foot orthosis;JEREM Y
2 Equilibrillm 11/29/2017 Heel stabilizer; $510W AXM AN

117338800145000
D lmbar-sacral

JEREM Y orthosis; Shoulder,A
ctive3 W AXM AN 

and B.W . Assist 7/11/2018 elbow, m ist, or hand $2,150
DEAN ZUSM ER orthosis;

118198802408000
Lumbar-sacralJEREM Y

orthosis; Shoulder,W AXM AN
; elbow

, m 'ist, or hand4 RON AI
,D A.N. Silent Hill 11/5/2018 $2,775orthosis; &DAW DOVIC
; and W rist/hand orthosis;UM UT VARDAR

11 83 12777707000
Avrist/hand odhosis;

5 axv ax J.W . Equilibrium 2/18/2019 Elbow orthosis; $2,950W
119052704127000

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1347 an.d 2.

COUNT 6
Conspiracy to Defraud the United States and Pay and Receive HeaIth Care Kickbacks

(18 U.S.C. j 371) '

Paragraphs 1 tllrough 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of

this Indictment are re-alleged and incop orated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. From in or arotmd April 2014, and continuing through in or around Apl'il 2019, in

M inmi-Dade and Broward Cotmties, in the Southern District

defendants,

of Florida, and elsewhere, the

zslt::M Y w AXM A ,N
LAwRENCE ALEXANbER,

DEAN zcsM E ,R
RONALD oAvm ovlè,and

IJM CT vAltou ,
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did knowingly and willfully, that is, with the intent to f'urther the objects of the conspiracy,

c' ombine, conspize, confederate, and agree with each other, Individual 1, and others known and

llnknown to the Grand Jury to defraud the United States by impairing, impeding, obstnlcting, and

defeating through deceitful and dishonest means, the lawful government functions of the HHS in

' its administration and oversight of M edicare and M edicare Advantage; and to commit offenses

against the United States, that is:

to violate Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A), by lcnowingly

and willfully offering and paying any remtmeration, including ldckbacks and bribes, directly and

indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, to a person to induce such person to refer an

individual to a person for the furnishing and arranging for the fnrnishing of any item and service

for which payment may be made in whole and in part by a Federal health care progrnm, that is,

M edicare and M edicare Advantage; and

b. to violate Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320au7b(b)(1)(A), by knowingly

and willfully soliciting and receiving any remtmeration, including kickbacks and bribes, directly

and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, in rettu'n for refening an individual to a

person for the fnrnishing and arranging for the fllrnishing of any item and selwice for which

payment may be made in whole and in part by a Federal health care benefit program, thàt is,

M edicare and M edicare Advantage.

Purpose of the Conspiracv

3. It was a pup ose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

tmlawfully enrich themselves by, nmong other things: (a) offezing, paying, soliciting, and

receiving kickbacks and bribes in exchange for the referral of beneficiades and doctors' orders for

braces to Equilibrium, Silent Hill, West Bay, and Active Assist; (b) paying and causing the
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payment of ldckbacks and bribes to telemedicine companies in exchange for ordering and

arranging for the ordering of braces for beneficiaries, without regard to the medical necessity of

the prescribed braces or whether the braces were eligible for M edicare and M edicare Advantage

reimbtlrsement; (c) submitting and causing the submission, via interstate wire commllnication, of

false and fraudulent claims to M edicare and M edicare Advantage through Equilibrium, Silent Hill,

W est Bay, and Active Assist for braces that wçre medically llnnecessaty, ineligible for M edicare

and Medicare Advantage reimbtlrsement, and not provided as represented; (d) concealing and

causing the concealment of false and fraudulent claims; and (e) diverting fraud proceeds for their

personal use and benefit, the use and benetk of others, and to further the fraud.

M anner and M eàns of the Conspiracv

The manner and means by which the defendants and their, co-conspirators sought

to accomplish the objects pnd purpose of the conspiracy included, nmong other things, the

following:

4. JEREM Y W AXM AN falsely certiûed to M edicare that he, as well as Equilibrillm,

would comply with all M edicare rules and regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-

Kickback Statm e.

ln order to avoid scrutiny and ensure that he could constantly bill M edicare and

Medi'care Advantage, even if Equilibrium was audited or othem ise subject to regulatory scnztiny,

JEREM Y W  acquired beneficial ownership interests in other DM E suppliers, including

Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist.

6. JEREM Y W AXM AN and other co-conspirators recruited and paid individuals,

including LAW RENCE AI,EXANDER, DEAN ZUSM ER, and lndividual 1, to establish the

DME suppliers in their own or fnmily members' names and to serve as nominee owners of DM E
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suppliers, including Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist, in order to conceal W AXM AN'S

ownership role in the compnnies.

JEREM Y W AXM AN and LAW RENCE ALEXANDER caused CM S Form

8555 to be submitted to M edicare on behalf of Silent Hill, falsely representing to M edicaze that

AT,EXANDER'S relative, Nominee Owner 1, was the sole owner arld managing employee of

Silent Hill. In reality, W  and AI,EXANDER maintained an ownership and management
$

interest in Silent Hill, which they concealed from M edicare. The Medicare enrollment form which

WAXMAN and ALEXANDER caused to be submitled also falsely certi/ed that Nominee Owner

1,.as well as Silent Hill, would comply with all M edicare rules and regulations and federal laws,

including the Federal Anti-r ckback Statute.

8. lndividual 1, at JEREM Y W AXM AN 'S direction, subm itted CM S Foz'm 8555 to

M edicare on behalf of W est Bay, in which Individual 1 falsely represented to M edicare that

Individual 1 was the sole owner and managing employee of W est Bay. In reality, W AXM AN

maintained an ownership and management interest in W est Bay, which was concealed f'rom

M edicare. The M edicare fol'm which W AXM AN caused to be submitted also falsely certifed to

M edicare that Individual 1, as well as W est Bay, would comply with a11 M edicare rules and

regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-M ckback Statm e.

9. DEAN ZUSM ER submitted CM S Form 8555 to M edicare on behalf of Active

Assist, in which ZUSM ER falsely represented to M edicare that ZUSM ER was the sole owner

and m anaging em ployee of Active Assist. In reality, JEREM EY W AXM AN maintained a

financial and management interest in Active Assist, which was concealed 9om M edicare. The

M edicare form also falsely certified to M edicare that ZUSM ER, as well as Active Assist, would
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comply with a1l M edicare rules and regulations and federal laws, including the Federal Anti-

Kickback Stamte.

10. RONALD DAVIDOW C, UM VT VARDAR, and other co-conspirators paid

ldckbacks arld bribes in excharlge for the refen'al of beneficiaries alld doctors' orders for braces.

DAVIDOW C, VARDAR, and other co-conspirators then negotiated kickback arrangements with

DM E suppliers, including, through JEREM Y W AXM AN, Equilibzimn, Silent Hill, W est Bay,

and Active Assist, and to sell the beneficiaries and doctors' orders to the DM E suppliers.

11. JEREM Y W AXM AN, LAW RENCE ALEX ANDER, DEAN ZUSM ER,

Individual 1, and other co-conspirators paid and caused to be paid ldckbacks and bribes to patient

recruiters, including RONALD DAW DOVIC and UM UT VARDAR, through Lead Creations,

as well as SYL M arketing, in exchange for referring beneficiaries and doctors' orders for braces

to Equilibrittm, Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist.

12. JEREM Y W  , DEAN ZUSM ER, RONALD DAW DOVIC, UM UT

VARDAR, Individual 1, and other co-conspirators offered and paid, and caused to be paid, illegal

ldckbacks and bribes to telemedicine companies, including Telemedicine Company 1, in exchange

for doctors' orders for braces.

13. As a result of the kickbacks and bribes that JEREM Y W  , LAW RENCE

AI,EXANDER, DEAN ZUSM ER, RONAT,D DAW DOVIC, UM UT VARDAR, lndividual 1

and other co-conspirators paid, caused to be paid, solicited, and received in exchange for referring

beneficiaries to Equilibrium, Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist, W AXM AN,

ALEXANDER, ZUSM ER, DAW DOVIC, VARDAR, and Individual 1 denied beneficiades the

ability to choose which DM E supplier, if any, they desired to f'ulfill their braces orders.
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14. JEREM Y W U M AN,

RONALD DAW DOVIC, UM UT VARDAR, Individual 1, and other co.conspirators disguised

the nature and source of these ldckbacks and bribes by designating payments as legitimate services,

LAW RENCE ALEXANDER, DEAN ZUSMER,

such as ttmarketing'' or çibusiness process outsourcing'' services, entering into shnm contracts, and

generating and causing the generation of gaudulent invoices.

IEREM Y W AXM AN, LAMQG NCE ALEXANDER, DEAN ZUSM ER,

RONAT,D DAW DOW C, UM UT VARDAR, and Individual 1 caused Equilibrillm, Silent Hill,

W est Bay, and Active Assist to submit claims to M edicare and M edicare Advantage for braces

purportedly provided to beneficiaries in at least the approximate amount of $31,435,359, of wllich

approximately $15,769,334 was paid.

IEREM Y W AXM AN, LAMQG NCE ALEXANDER, DEAN ZUSM ER,

RONALD DAW DOW C, UM UT VARDAR, Individual 1and other co-conspirators used the

proceeds received from M edicare and M edicare Advantage to benefit themselves and others, and

to further the conspiracy.

Overt Acts

In fartherance of the conspiracy, and to accomplish its objects and purpose, at least one co-

conspirator committed and caused to be committed, in the Southem District of Florida, at least one

of the following overt acts, among others

1. On or about April 1, 2014, JEREM Y W AXM AN and UM UT VARDAR signed

a M arketing Services ContracG sertion Order, which falsely described that Lead Creations would

provide to Equilibdllm tçBrace Leads'' reflecting the following beneficiary information lTirst

Name, Last Name, Address, City, State, Zip, and Phone.''
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2. On or about April 16, 2015,

DAVIDOVIC and UM-UT VARDAR describing two beneficiaries for whom he could not submit

claims to M edicaze. In the email, W AXM AN explained that he could not submit the claims

JEREM Y W AXM AN emailed RONALD

because one beneficiary çtrettu-ned the brace wlithq a letter (see attached) saying he thought he was

responding to an adlj for free groceries'' and the second beneficiary ltwas deceased.''

On or about November 3, 2015, JEREM Y W AXM AN emailed RONAT,D

DAW DOVIC, UM UT VARDAR, and others, requesting a refund for a beneficiary for whom

W  AN could not bill Medicare. W AXM AN insisted that &G1 never got the gdoctor'sj order . .

. W hy should I pay for it ????''

On or about August 2016, JEREM Y W AXM AN and LAW RENCE

AI,EXANDER caused a representative of Silent Hill to electrorlically submit CM S Form 8555,

falsèly representing to M edicare that AI,EXANDER'S relative, Nominee Owner 1, was the sole

owner and managing employee of Silent Hill. The CM S Folnn 8555 also falsely certified that,

nmong other things, Silent Hill would comply with the Federal Anti-lfickback Statute.

On or about January 1, 2017, at the direction of JEREM Y W  ,

LAW RENCE M ,EXANDER signed a Sales and M arketing Agreement with a patient recraiter,

wllich falsely described that the patient recnziter would provide Gûmarketing and back office

services'' to Silent Hill, in exchange for $4,200 per week.

6. On or about Januaty 2017, LAW RENCE AI,EXANDER signed an

Adm inistrative Services Agreem ent with the patient recruiter, which falsely represented that the

patient recnziter would provide tGhealth care operations and business processes'' for Silent Hill at

the rate of $2,800 per week. The agreement also falsely represented that the parties would comply

with the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute.
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On or about M ay 3, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN directed Individual 1 to sign a

CM S Fol'm 8555, falsely representing to M edicare that lndividual 1 was the sole owner and

managing employee of W est Bay. In reality, W AXM AN maintained an ownership and

management interest in W est Bay, which W AXM AN concealed from M edicare. The CM S Form

8555 also falsely certifed that, among other tllings, W est Bay would comply with the Federal

Anti-Kickback Statute.

8. On or aboutM ay 29, 2018, R REM Y W AXM AN emailed Lead Creations

representatives, including UM UT VARDAR, copying DEAN ZUSM ER and Individual 1, noting

that Active Assist, Gtanother new entity that I am involved with,'' ççis ready to go live ASAP,

preferably this week. The initial cnmpaign will be for 5k per week'' meaning that Lead Creations

would provide approximately $5,000 worth of benetkiary referrals and completed doctors' orders

to Active Assist each week.

9. On or about M ay 31, 2018, DEAN ZUSM ER and UM UT VARDAR executed a

M arketing Services Contract/lnsertion Order, which falsely described that Lead Creations would

provide to Active Assist GEBrace Leads''. reflecting the following benefciary information :Tirst

Nnme, Last Name, Address, City, State, Zip, and Phone.''

On or about June 4, 2018, JERM EY W AXM AN signed check number 1295 from

Equilibrillm Account 2 in the amotmt of $5,000 addzessed to Lead Creations. The memo line for

this check stated, tçActive Assist.''

On or about Jtme 5, 2018, UM UT VARDAR em ailed JEREM Y W AXM AN an

invoice for Active Assist wilich falsely degcribed Lead Creation's selwices as a flat llMarketing

Fee'' of $5 000.
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12. On or about Jtme 5, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN forwarded UM UT VAc u 's

email and the invoice to DEAN ZUSM ER, noting that the invoice was G<paid already.''

On or about June 19, 2018,at the direction of JEREM Y W  , DEAN

ZUSM ER signed CM S Form. 8555, falsely representing to M edicare that ZUSM ER was the sole

owner and managing employee of Active Assist.

14. On or about Jtm e 21, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN signed a Call Center Services

and Outsolzrcing BPO Agreement with Telemediciùe Company 1, which falsely described that

Telemedicine Company 1 would provide GlBusiness Process Outsotlrcing Services'' to Eqtlilibritun.

In reality, W  paid and caused to be paid kickbacks and b'ribes to Telem edicine Com pany

1 in exchange for the refen'al of beneficiaries to Equilibrium, Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active

Assist for DM E, along with completed doctprs' orders prescribing the DM E.

15. On or abou't August 9, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN received an invoice 9om

Telemedicine Company 1 for a week of service. The invoice falsely described that Telemedicine

Company 1 waj charging Equilibrillm a total of $5,000, or 200 hours at $25 an hotm for CGBPO

Call Center Services as part of the Safe Harbor Agreement.'' The cover email transmitting the

invoice indicated that the weelcly minimum pre-payment nmotmt was for 200 hours, Gçwhich is the

fair market value equivalent of about 50 successful consults,'' i.e., 50 doctors' orders for DM E

pfoducts. The invoices justified the purported lGhotlrly rate'' by equating 'the cost of the doctor's

order to hotzrs: 'G4 hours'' (or $100) Cûis typically the effol't required for one complete interaction.''

16. On or about August 20, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN and Individual 1 received an

updéted reconciliation report for Silent Hill 9om a representative of Lead Creations, copying

UM'UT VARDAR and noting that Silent Hill's Etbalance'' was $4,915.00. The Lead Creations
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i
:

k '
1-

representative further noted Silent Hill would receive 1:12 orders ... today . . . .'' W

confirmed in response that he Gtshould be able to get to the bank for Silent Hill . . . .''

17. On or about September 10, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN and Individual 1 received

an email from a representative of Lead Creations, who copied UM UT VARDAR and provided an

invoice âom Lead Creations to W est Bay, which falsely represented that W est Bay owed

approximately $7,500 for a lçM arketing Fee,'' when in fact what W AXM AN and Individual 1 were

buying from Lead Creations was beneficiary referrals, including completed doctors' orders.

18. On or about September 10, 2018, UM UT VARDAR emailed JEREM Y

W AXM AN a reconciliation report wllich tTacked the patient referrals for particular types of braces

that Lead Creations had supplied to date, the total nmount owed for these referrals, and the total

amopnt that W est Bay had paid toward these referrals to date.

19. On or about September 10, 2018, JEREM Y W AXM AN signed check nllmber

1 132 from the W est Bay Accotmt in the nmolmt of approximately $7,500, made payable to Lead

Creations.

20. On or about December 6, 2018, JEREM Y W  received several invoices

from Telemedicine Company 1 for multiple weeks of service. The invoices falsely described that,

each week, Telemedicine Company 1 charged Equilibdtlm a total of $5,000, or 200 hotzrs at $25

an hotm for GIBPO Call Center Services as part of the Safe Harbor Agreement''

21. On or about December 7, 2018, JEREM Y W  wh'ed Telemedicine

Company 1 approximately $5,000 from Equilibrillm Account 1.

22. On or about April 2, 2019, DEAN ZUSM ER em ailed UM UT VARDAR, nm ong

other representatives of Lead Creations, explaining that ç1I ran statistics for M arch. Collections '

were W AY DOW N due to claim denials. W e're currently operating at a loss. Bad data? Sim

27
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snm e? . .. W e cnnnot sustain a cam paign that doesn't perfonn. W hat's the solution to getting back

on track?''

23. On or about April 2, 2019, UM UT VARDAR em ailed DEAN ZUSM ER, copying

JEREM Y W AX M AN, explaining that Lead Creations typically did not charge Active A ssist for

beneficiary referrals that did not include a doctor's order that could be billed and instead offered a

ttcredit'' for such non-billable referrals, ensuring that a billable referral would follow: ttYou get

' 

credit for pretty much most of the denials.''

24. On or about April 5, 2019, UM UT VARDAR emailed JEREM Y W AXM AN and

DEAN ZUSM ER Gûrecon reports'' for Silent Hill, W est Bqy, and Active Assist. The reports

reflected the beneficiaries and doctors' orders that Lead 'Creations referred to Silent Hill, W est

Bay, and Active Assist, but for whom Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist could not bill

M edicare atld M edicare Advantage, and for which Lead Creations gave tGcredit.'' The reports also

reflected the total nmotmt Silent Hill, W est Bay, and Active Assist owed and paid for each type of

doctors' order Lead Creations supplied.

A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS 7-13
Paym ent of K ickbacks in Connection with a Federal H eaIth Care Program

(42 U.S.C. j 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A))

1. Paragraphs 1 through 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. On or about the dates enum erated below, in M iam i-Dade and Broward Cotmties, in

the Southem  District of Florida, and elsewherej the defendants,

JEREM Y W AXM AN and
DEAN ZUSM ER,
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did knowingly and willfully offer and pay any remuneration, that is, ldckbacks and bribes, directly

and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, as set forth below, to a person, to induce

such person to refer an individual to a person for the furnishing and arranging for the ftumislzing

of any item and service for which payment may be made in whole and in part tmder a Federal

health care progrnm, that is, M edicare and M edicare Advantage:

Approx. Date Approx. Am t.D
efendantts)Count of Kickback of Kickback Description of Kickback Payment
Charged P

a m ent Pa m ent
JEREM Y W ire t'ransfer 9om Silent Hill7 
Axv ax 9/21/2017 $28,103W  Account 1 to SY.L M arketin .

Check no. 1295 drawn f'rom
Equilibrillm Account 1, and m ade8 W AXM AN 

and 6/4/2018 $5,000 payable to Lead Creations, with aDEAN ZUSM ER 
uw otive Assist.''memo line statin ,

Check no. 1005 dram l from the
JEREM Y Active Assist Account, and made

9 W AXM AN and 7/9/2018 $7,500 payable to Lead Creations, with a
DEAN ZUSM ER m em o line stating,

Gtmarketin /advertisin .''
' Check no. 1227 drawn from  Silent

10 9/4/2018 $7,500 Hill Accolmt 1, and made payable toW AXM AN
Lead Creations.
Check no. 1 132 drawn from theJEREM Y

11 9/10/2018 $7,500 W est Bay Accotmt, and madeW AXM AN
a able to Lead Creations.

JEREM Y W ire transfer from Equilibrillm
12 W  and 12/7/2018 $5,000 Account 1 to Telemedicine

DEAN ZUSM ER Com  an 1.
Check no. 1202 drawn f'rom theJEREM Y

13 3/4/2019 $7,500 W est Bay Accotmt, and madeW AXM AN
a able to Lead Creations.

In violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A) and Title 18,

United States Code, Sedion 2.
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COUNTS 14-18
Receipt of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal H ealth Care Program

(42 U.S.C. j 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A))

Paragraphs 1 tllrough 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about the dates enumerated below, in M iami-Dade and Broward Counties, in

the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

RONALD DAW DOW C and
UM UT VARDAR,

did knowingly and willfully solicit and receive any remtmeration, that is, lcickbacks and bribes,

directly and indirectly, ovedly and covertly, in cash and in kind, as set fodh below, i.n retut.n for

referring an individual to a person for the fllrnishing and anu ging for the farnishing of any item

and service for which payment may be made in whole and in pat't under a Federal health care

progrnm , that is, M edicare and M edicare Advantage:

A rox. Date Approx. Am t.PP D
escription of KickbackDefendantts)Count of Kickback of Kickback

Charged ReceivedR
eceived Received

Check no. 1295 drawn from
RONM ,D Equilibritlm Account 1, made

14 DAVIDOVIC; and 6/4/2018 $5,000 payable to Lead Creations, and
UM UT VARDAR deposited into the Lead Creations

Account.
Check no. 1005 drawn 9om the

RONAT,D Active Assist Accolmt, made
15 DAVIDOW C; and 7/9/2018 $7,500 payable to Lead Creations, and

UM UT VARDAR deposited into the Lead Creations
Account.

RONAT,D Check no. 1122 drawn âom the
DAW DOVIC; and West Bay Accotmt, made payable to16 9/4/2018 $7

,500UM UT VARDAR L
ead Creations, and deposited into
the Lead Creations Account.

RONALD ' Check no. 1 132 dzawn f'rom the
DAVIDOVIC; atld W est Bay Account, made payable to17 9/11/2018 $7

,500UM UT VARDAR L
ead Creations, and deposited into
the Lead Creations Accotmt.
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Approx. Date Approx. Am t.D
efendantts) Description of KickbackCount of Kickback of Kickback
Charged ReceivedR

eceived Received

RONAI,D Check no. 1202 drawn from the
DAW DOW C; and W est Bay Accotmt, made payable to18 3/5/2019 $7

,500UM UT VARDAR L
ead Creations, and deposited into

the Lead Creations Account.

In violation of Title 42, United Stqtes Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A) and Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2.

COUNT 19
False Statem ents Relating to H ealth Care M atters

(18 U.S.C. j 1035)

Paragraphs 1 through 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of

this Indictment are re-alleged and incop orated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about January 14, 2019, in M inmi-Dade and Broward Counties, in the

Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JEREM Y W AXM AN and
LAW RENCE ALEXANDER,

in a matter involving > health care benefh progrnm, that is, M edicare, did knowingly and willfully

make and use a materially false, fctious, and fraudulent m iting and docllment, knowing the snme

to contain a materially false, fictious, and fraudulent statement and entry, in cormection with the

delivery and payment for health care items and sbrvices, that is, signing and submitting to M edicare

a CM S Form 8555 certifying that Nominee Owner 1 was the sole owner and managing employee

of Silent Hill, when, in tnzth and in fact, as defendants then and there well knew, Nominee Owner

1 was not the sole owner and m anaging employee of Silent Hill because W AXM AN and

ALEXANDER were also owners and managing employees of Silent Hill.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1035(a)(2) and 2.

31

Case 0:21-cr-60253-KMM   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/01/2021   Page 31 of 47



COUNT 20
False Statem ents Relating to H ealth Care M atters

(18 U.S.C. j 1035)

Paragraphs 1 tllrough 20 and 27 tbrough 40 of the General Allegations section of

this lndidment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about M ay 3, 2018, in Broward Cotmty, in the Southem District of Florida,

and elsewhere, the defendant,

JEREM Y W AXM AN,

in a matter involving a health care benefh progrnm, that is, M edicare, did knowingly and willfully

make and use a materially false, fictious, and fraudulent m iting and document, knowing the snme

to contain a materially false, fictious, and fraudulent statement and entry, in connection with the

delivery andpayment for health care items and selwices, that is, siglling and submitting to M edicre

a CM S Form 8555 certifying that lndividual 1 was the sole owner and managing employee of

W est Bay, when, in truth and in fad, as W AXM AN then and there well knew, Individual 1 was

not the sole owner and managing employee of W est Bay because W AXM AN was also an owner

and managing employee of W est Bay.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1035(a)(2) atld 2.

CO UNT 21
False Statem ents Relating to H ealth Care M atters

(18 U.S.C. j 1035)

1. Pragraphs 1 through 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about Jtme 19, 2018, in M iami-Dade and Broward Counties, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JEREM Y W AXM AN and
DEAN ZUSM ER,
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'in a matter involving a health care benefh progrnm, that is, M edicare, did knowingly and willfully

i
make and use a materially false, fictious, and fraudulent writing and docllment, knowing the same

to contain a materially false, fictious, and fraudulent statement and entry, in connection with the

delivery and payment for health care items and services, that is, signing and submitting to M edicare

a CM S Form 8555 certifying that ZUSM ER was the sole owner and managing employee of Active

Assist, when, in truth and i.n fact, as defendants then and there well knew, ZUSM ER was not the

sole owner and managing employee of Active Assist because W AXM AN was also an owner and

managing employee of Active Assist.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1035(a)(2) and 2.

COUNTS 22-23
M oney Laundering
(18 U.S.C. j 1957(a))

Paragraphs 1 through 20 and 27 through 40 of the General Allegations section of

tllis Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about the dates set foz'th as to each count below, in M inmi-Dade and Broward

Cotmties, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

JEREM Y W AXM AN,

did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaction affecting interstate

commerce, by, through, and to a fnancial institution, in criminally derived property of a value

greater than $10,000, and such property having been derived 9om specifed llnlawful activity,

knowing that the property involved in the monetary transaction was dedved from some form of

lm lawf'ul activity:
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Approx. Date Approx. Amount Description of M onetaryC
ount

of Transaction of Transaction Transaction
The deposit of check no. 4524 drawn
from Equilibrium Account 2 and

22 1/12/2017 $200,000 deposited into TD Ameritrade
account ending in 0112 held in the
nnm e of JEREM Y W AXM AN .
The deposit of check no. 1217 drawn
9om Equilibrium Accotmt 1

23 3/1/2018 $500,000 deposited into TD Ameritrade
accolmt ending in 0112 held in the
name of JEREM Y W AXM AN.

It is further alleged that the specifed tmlawf'ul activity is conspiracy to commit health care

f'raud an.d wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349; health care gaud,

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347; and payment of kickbacks in cozmection

with a Federal health cal'e progrnm , in violation of Title 42, United States Code, 1320a-7b.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sedions 1957(a) and 2.

COUNTS 24-25
W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1343)

The General Allegations section of this lndictment is re-alleged and incorporated

by reference as if f'ully set forth herein.

From in or around April, 2020, and continuing tllrough in or around Jtme 2020, in

M iami-Dade and Broward Counties, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendant,

JEREM Y W AXM AN,

did knowingly, and with intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice to

defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and prom ises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were

false and fraudulent when made, and, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artitice, did
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knowingly transmit atld cause to be transmitted, by means of wke communication in interstate and

foreign commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1'343.

Purpose of the Schem e and Artifice

It was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendant and his accomplices

to tmlawfully enrich themse' lves by: (a) submitling and causing the submission, via interstate wire

commlmication, of false atld gaudulent applications for loans and grants made available through

the SBA to provide relief for the economic effects caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, including

EIDLS,' (b) diverting fraud proceeds for their personal use, the use and benefit of others, and to

further the fraud; and (c) concealing and causing the concealment of the false and fraudulent

applications.

The Schem e and Artifice

2020, JEILEAIAJ 5V3J(513JN subnAiûed, and caused the4. On or about April 3,

submission of, an EIDL application inthe name of Equilibrium seeking an EIDL (the GçEquilibritlm

EIDL Application''). In the Equilibrillm EIDL Application, W AXM AN falsely represented,

among other things, that Equilibdum was GGnot engaged in any illegal activity,'' that Equilibrillm's
1

gmss revenues for the twelve months prior to the date of the disaster were $817,633, and that

Equilibrillm's cost of goods sold for the twelve months prior to the date of the disaster were

$634,523.

5. On or about April 3, 2020, JEREM Y W AXM AN subm itted, and caused fhe

submission of, an EIDL application in the name of Balance Advisors seeldng an EIDL (the

tGBalance Advisors EIDL Application'). tn the Balance Advisors EIDL Application, W AXM AN

falsely represented, nm ong other things, that Balance Advisors was <Gnot engaged in any illegal
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activity,'' that Balance Advisor's gross revenues for the twelve months prior to the date of the

disaster were $662,235, and that Balance Advisor's cost of goods sold for the twelve months prior

to the date of the disaster were $168,625.

As a result of the false and âaudulent Equilibrium EIDL Application and the false

and fraudulent Balance Advisors EIDL Application, SBA apmoved the EIDLS.

On or about Jlme 10, 2020, JEREM Y W AXM AN subnaited, and caused the

subrnission of, an EIDL Loan Authorization and Agreement (the ttEquilibrillm EIDL Loan

Agreemenf), seelcing an EIDL for Equilibritlm in the approximate nmount of $89,600. In the

Equilibritlm EIDL Loan Agreement, W AXM AN falsely certified that Gtgaqll representations in the

Borrower's Loan applieation (including al1 supplementary submissions) m'e true, corred and

complete and are offered to induce SBA to make this Loan.''

8. On or about Jtme 10, 2020, JEREM Y W AXM AN submitled, and caused the

submission of, an EIDL Loan Authorization and Agreement (the EElBalance Advisors EIDL Loan

Agreemenf), seeldng an EIDL for Balance Advisors in the approximate nmount of $150,000. In

the Balance Advisors EIDL Loan Agreement, W AXM AN falsely certified that 1û(a)11

representations in the Bonower's Loan application (including al1 supplementary submissions) are

true, correct and complete and are offered to induce SBA to m ake this Loan.''

ln reliance on the false representations made in the Equilibrillm EIDL Application,

the SBA deposited $2,000 in the form of an EIDL advance into Equilibrillm Accotmt 1. In reliance

on false and fraudùlent representations made in the Equilibrium EIDL Application and

Equilibrillm EIDL Loan Agreement, the SBA then deposited approximately $89,500 into

Equilibrium Accotmt 1.
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10. In reliancé on the false representations made in the Balance Advisors EIDL

Application, the SBA deposited $1,000 in the fonn of an EIDL advance into the Balance Advisors

Account. ln reliance on false and fraudulent representations made in the Baiance Advisors EIDL

Application and Balmwe Advisors EIDL Loan Agreement, the SBA then deposited approximately

$149,900 into the Balance Advisors Accotmt.

Use of W ires

On or aboutthe dates specified as to each count below, in M inmi-Dade and Broward

Counties, in the Southez'n District of Florida, alld elsewhere, JEREM Y W AXM AN, for the

purpose of executing and in furtheran' ce of the aforementioned scheme and artifice to degaud
, did

knowingly transnzit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire commlmication in interstate and

foreign commerce certain m itings, signs, signals, pictures, and sotmds, as described below:

Approx. Date ofC
ount Description of W ireS

ubm ission
Electronic transmission âom JEREM Y
W AXM AN, from within Florida, to SBA, through24 6/10/2020
servers outside of Florida, of the EIDL Loan
A reem ent for E uilibrillm .
Electronic transmission from JEREM Y
W AXM AN, 9om within Florida, to SBA, through25 6/10/2020
servers outside of Florida, of the EIDL Loan
A reement for Balance Advisors.

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS
(18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1), (a)(2)(A), (a)(7))

The allegations of this Indiitment are re-alleged and by this reference fully1.

incorporated herein for alleging forfeittlre to the United States of ceziain property in which the

defendants, JEREM Y W AXM AN, LAW RENCE AI,EXANDER, DEAN ZUSG R,

RONALD DAW DOVIC, and UM UT VARDAR, have an interest.
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2. Upon conviction of a violation of, or a criminal conspiracy to violate, a GlFederal

health care offense,'' as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(a), as alleged in Counts

1-21 of this Indictment, the defendant so conviqted shall forfeit to the United States, ptlrsuant to

l
! Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7), any property, real or personal, that constitutes or
i

is derived, directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to such violation.

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957(a), as

alleged in Counts 22-23 of tllis Inéictment, defendant JEREMY W AXM AN shall forfeit to the

United States, ptlrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), any property, real or

personal, involved in such violation, and any property traceable to such property.

4. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, as

alleged in Counts 24-25 of tllis Indictment, defendant JEREM Y W AXM AN shall forfeit to the

United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 'Section 982(a)(2)(A), any

property constituting or derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such

violation.

5. The property, which is subject to criminal forfeiture includes, but is not limited to,

the following:

(a) Al1 principal, deposits, interest, dividends, and any other nmotmts credited

to accotmt ntzm ber 488613758 held at TD Am eritrade, in the name of JEREM Y W AXM AN for

the benefit of Equilibrium Medical Supply Inc. 401(k) Plan; and

(b) A11 principal, deposits, interest, dividends, and any other nmollnts credited

to accotmt ntlmber 777100112 held at TD Ameritrade, in the name of JEREM Y W AXM AN.
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All ptlrsuant to Title 18,United States Code, Sections982(a)(1), 982(a)(2)(A), and

982(a)(7), and the procedures outlined at Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as made

applicable by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1).

A TRUE BILL

FORE RSON

q ' x

AN TON G M ,E
AC FNG UNITED ES ATTORN EY
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH S. BEEM STERBOER
ACTING CHIEF
CRIM FNAL DIVISION , FM UD SECTION
U.S. DEPART= N T OF JUSTICE

ALLAN M EDINA
DEPUTY CHIEF
CRIM INAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION
U.s. DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE

, 
*>

JAM IE D BOE
TRIAL ATTORNEY
CRIM INAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION
U .S. DEPART> NT OF JUSTICE
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UNITEDSTATESDISTRICT CoURT
SOUTHERNDISTRICT OFFLORD A

UM TED STATESOF AM EW CA

JEREMY WM MAN, et aI.

Defendants/

CourtDivision:tselect One) New defendantts) 1-1 Yes I--I No
r-lMiami I--I Key West 1--17 FTL Numberof new defendants
F-IWPB INFTP Totalnumberofcounts

1. 1 have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of prohble
witnesses and the legal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation atlachedhereto.

2. 1 am aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in
setting their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act,

Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3161.

3. Interpreter: (Yes or No) No
List language and/or dialect

4. This case will take 15 days for the parties to try.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY*
Superseding Case lnformation:

5. Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one) (Check only one)
I 0 to 5 days Eq1 Petty (71
11 6 to 10 days (71 Minor ID
I11 11 to 20 days Irrlz Misdemeanor -r
IV 21 to 60 days E7I Felony IId
V 61 days and over (71
6. Has this case previously been filed inthis District Court? (Yes or No) No
If yes: Judge Case No.

(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matler? (Yes or No) No
If yes: M agistrate Case No. '

Related miscellaneous numbers:

Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) NO
7. Does tllis case originate from a matler pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorto
August 9, 2013 (Mag. Judge Alicia 0. Valle)? (Yes or No) No

8. Does this case originate from a matler pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorto
August 8, 20 14 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No) N0

9. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)? (Yes or No) No

*penalty Sheetts) attachd

. . 
<

JAM IE E B R
DOJ Trial Attorney

Court ID No. A5502601

REV 3/19/21
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: JEREM Y W AXM AN

Case No:

Countts) #: 1

Conspiracy to Commit Hea1th Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

Title 8, United States Code, Section 1349

*M ax.penalty: 20 Years' lmprisonment

Counttsl#: 2-5

Hea1th Care Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347

WM ax.penalty: 10 Years' lmprisonm ent As To Each Cotmt

' Counttsl#: 6 .

Conspiracv to Degaud the United States and Pav and Receive Hea1th Care Kickbacks

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 ,

*M axz enalty: 5 Years' lmprisonment

Counttsl#: 7-13

Paym ent of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Health Care Program

Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A)

frM ax.penalty: 10 Yuars' lmprisonment As To Each Cotmt '

page 1 of 2
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CONTIN UED PENM TY SHEET
page 2 of 2

Defendant's Nam e: JEREM Y W AXM AN

Case No:

Countts) #: 19-21

False Statem ents Relating to Hea1th Care M atters

Title 8, United States Code, Section 1035

K'M ax-penalty: 5 Years' Imprisonment As To Each Count

Counttsl#: 22-23

A4oney Laundedna

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957(a)

WM ax-penalty: 5 Years' Imprisonment As To Each Count

Counttsl#: 24-25

W ire Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343

WM ax-penalty: 20 Years' lmpdsonment As To Each Count

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Defendant's Nam e:

PENALTY SHEET

LAW RENCE ALEXANDER

Case No: -

Count #: 6

Title 18, United States Code. Section 371

Conspiracy to Defraud the United States and Pay and Receive Health Care Kickbacks

*M ax Penalty: Five (5) vears' imprisonment

Collnt #: 19

Title 18s United States Codes Sedion 1035

False Statem ents Relatinc to Heath Care M atters

SrM ax Penaltv: Five (5) vears' imprisonment

*Refers only to possible term  of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF Y'LORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: DEAN ZUSM ER

Case No: -

Countts) #: 1

Conspiracv to Commit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

Title 8, United States Code, Section 1349

l'M ax.penalty: 20 Years' Im risonrnent 
.

Counttsl#: 3

Hea1th Care Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347

I'M ax.penalty: 10 Years' Im prisonm ent

Counttsl#: 6

Conspiracv to Degaud the United States and Pav and Receive Health Care Kickbacks

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

WM ax-penalty: 5 Years' Im plisonment

Counttsl#: 8-9. 12.

Payment of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Hea1th Care Program

Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A)

K'M axz enalty: 10 Years' Imptisonment As To Each Cotmt '.)

page (1 of 2
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CONTINUED PENALTY SHEET
page 2 of 2

Defendant's Nam e: DEAN ZUSM ER

Case No:

Countts) #: 21

False Statem ents Relating to Hea1th Care M atters

Title 8, United States Code, Section 1035

WM axz enalty: 5 Years' Imprisonm ent As To Each Cotmt

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.

Case 0:21-cr-60253-KMM   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/01/2021   Page 45 of 47



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's NaIneCRONALD DAW DOVIC

Case No:

Countts) #: 1

Conspiracv to Commit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

Title 8, United States Code, Section 1349

eM ax-penalty: 20 Years' Imprisonm ent

Counttsl#: 4

Hea1th Care Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347

''M axz enalty: 10 Years' Imprisonm ent

Counttsl#: 6 .

Conspiracv to Defraud the United States and Pav and Receive Hea1th Care Kickbacks

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

WM ax-penalty: 5 Years' lmprisonment

Counttsl#: 14-18

Receipt of Kickbacks in Cormection with a Federal Hea1th Care Program

Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A)

*M ax-penalty: 10 Years' lmpdsonm ent As To Each Cotmt .

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant'j Name:tN u'f VARDA.R

Case No:

Countts) #: 1

Conspiracv to Commit Hea1th Care Fraud and W ire Fraud - -

Title 8, United States Code, Section 1349 .

eM ax-penalty: 20 Years' Im risonment

Counttsl#: 4

Hea1th Care Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347

*M ax-penalty: 10 Years' Imprisonm ent

Counttsl#: 6

Conspiracv to Defraud the United States and Pay and Receive Hea1th Care Kickbacks

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

*M ax-penalty: 5 Years' Imprisonment

Counttsl#: 14-18

Receipt of Kickbacks in Cozm ection with a Federal Hea1th Care Prom'am

Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A)

I'M ax.penalty: 10 Years' Imprisoam ent As To Each Colmt

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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